IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

THE STATE OF NEVADA,
Appellant,

v,

JOHN JOSEPH SEKA,

Respondent.

CASE NO: 80925

APPELLANT’S OPENING BRIEF

Appeal from Granting of Motion for New Trial
Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

NRS 177.015(1)b) provides for an appeal from an order of the district court
granting a motion for a new trial.

On March 24, 2020, the district court entered its Order granting Respondent
John foseph Seka’s Motion for New Trial in totality. The State filed its Notice of
Appeal on March 27, 2020. This appeal i1s from a final order granting a new trial.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court because it relates
to a conviction for a Category A felony. NRAP 17(b)(2).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

L. Whether the district court abused its discretion when 1t granted Respondent’s
Motion for New Trial.
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 30, 1999, John Joseph Seka (hereinafter “Seka™) was charged by way
of Information with: Counts 1 & 2 — Murder With Use of a Deadly Weapon (Open
Murder) (Felony — NRS 200.010, 200.030, 193.165); and Counts 3 & 4 — Robbery
With Use of a Deadly Weapon (Felony — NRS 200.380, 193.165). 1 AA 000001-03.

On July 26, 1999, the State filed its Notice of Intent to Seek the Death Penalty.
1d. at 000004-06.

Jury trial commenced on February 12, 2001. 1d. at 000007. On March 1, 2001,
the jury returned a verdict of guilty of First Degree Murder With Use of a Deadly
Weapon as to Count 1, gulty of Second Degree Murder With Use of a Deadly
Weapon as to Count 2, and guilty of Robbery as to Counts 3 and 4. 6 AA 001361-
62. The penalty hearing commenced on March 2, 2001. [d. at 001370. However, the
Jury could not return a special verdict. 1d. at 001427, On March 13, 2001, the parties
filed a Stipulation and Agreement to Waive Sentencing by Three-Judge Panel and
stipulated 1o a sentence of life without the possibility of parole as to Count 1. 1d. at
001436-37.

On April 26, 2001, Seka was sentenced to the Nevada Department of
Corrections as follows: as to Count | - Life without the possibility of parole with an

equal and consecutive term of Life without the possibility of parole for use of a
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deadly weapon: as to Count 2 — Life with the possibility of parole after ten (10) years
with an equal and consecutive term of Life with the possibility of paiole after ten
(10) years for use of a deadly weapon consecutive to Count 1; as to Count 3 — thirty-
five (35) to one hundred fifty-six (156) months consecutive to Count 2; and as to
Count 4 - thirty-five {35) to one hundred fifty-six {156) months consecutive to Count
3. Id. at 001438-52. The Judgment of Conviction was filed on May 9, 2001. Id. at
001453-54.

On May 15, 2001, Seka filed a Notice of Appeal. Id. at 001455-57. On April
8, 2003, the Nevada Supreme Court issued an Order affirming Seka’s conviction and
remittitur 1ssued on May 9, 2003. Id. at 001458-72.

On February 13, 2004, Seka filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus. 1d. at
001473-500; 7 AA 001501-14. The State filed its Response on April 6, 2004. 7 AA
001534-46. On November 5, 2004, the district court denied Seka’s Petition. Id. at
001553-69. On January 31, 2005, the district cowrt filed its Findings of Fact,
Conclusions of Law and Order. Id. at 001547-52.

On February 9, 2005, Scka filed a Notice of Appeal. Id. at 001570, On June
8, 2005, the Nevada Supreme Court issued an Order affirming the district court’s

decision and remittitur issued on July 15, 2005, 1d. at 001571-85.

6
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On June 19, 2017, Seka filed a post-conviction Petition Requesting a Genetic
Marker Analysis of Evidence Within the Possession or Custody of the State of
Nevada. 1d. at 001586-624. The State filed 1ts Response on August 15,2017. 1d. at
001625-40. Scka filed his Reply on September 5, 2017, Id. at 001641-59. On
September 13, 2017, the district court granted Seka’s Petition. Id. at 001663-64. The
district court filed its Order granting Seka’s Petition on September 19, 2017 1d. at
001660-62.

On December 14, 2018, the district court held an evidentiary hearing
regarding additional testing on the DNA evidence. Id. at 001665-750; 8 AA 001751~
814, On December 19, 2018, the district court granted Seka’s Petition in part and
denied the Petition n part. 8 AA 001815. On July 24, 2019, the district court set a
briefing schedule based on the DNA testing. Id. at 001816-21.

On November 19, 2019, Seka filed a Motion for New Trial. Id. at 001822-67.
The State filed its Response on lanuary 30, 2020. 10 AA 002487-2500; It AA
002501-04. Seka filed his Reply on March 4, 2020. 11 AA 002505-14. On March
11, 2020, the district court granted Seka’s Motion. 1d. at 002515-16. The district
court entered its Order on March 24, 2020. Id. at 002517-19.

On March 27, 2020, the State filed a Notice of Appeal. Id. at 002520-21.

7
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On-fune-15:2020Sckafled-a-Monon-for-Release Pending-Appeat-and-Retrrat-
Pursuantto-NRS-178-488-and-178-484—fd-at-002522=35—The-State-filed-its-Response: Sricken
onhune-i8: 2020—Id: -at 002544-65. -On-Juine-29:-2020—the-disict-conrt-denied- £ VI

oder
Scka’s-Metion-and-noted-that-"proof is-evidentorthe-presumption-is-greatthat-Seka
committed-the-crimes-charged-1d—at-002579—TFhe-districtcourt-further-noted-that the
State-demonstrated--by-clear-and-convineing-evidencerthat the-detention-order—was
appropriate- 1d -

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The mstant case involves the murders of two men, Peter Limanni and Eric
Hamilton. On November 16, 1998, Jeffrey Lowery was driving a truck on Las Vegas
Boulevard South where he saw a body lying on the left-hand side of the road. 4 AA
000898-99. Lowery testified that he reported the body to the police and that he did
not disturb anything at the scene while he waited for the police to arrive. Id, at
000899. Homicide detectives James Buczek and Tomn Thowsen, employed with Las
Vegas Metropolitan Police Department (LVMPD), responded to the area of Las
Vegas Boulevard South where the body was found. 3 AA 000517, Upon amival,
Detective Buczek found a body lying west of Las Vegas Boulevard South covered
with a variety of pieces of lumber including cedarwood. 1d. at 000518. The body

was a black male and was lying face down in the middle of a set of tire tracks leading

8
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to the road. 1d. at 000520-21. Detective Buczek testified that a piece of paper with
the name "Jack" and a telephone number was found in the body's front pants pocket.
1d. at 000521, Randall McPhail, a crime scene analyst with LVMPD, testified that
he recovered the green piece of paper with the work "Jack” and a phone number on
it from Hamulton's body. 4 AA 000901-62, 000904. The telephone number was
checked by Detective Thowsen and came back to Cinergl, a business located at 1933
Western Ave. 3 AA 000522, Vincent Roberts, a crime scene analyst with LVMPD,
testified that he made a cast of the tire impressions found at the scene on Las Vegas
Blvd. on November 16, 1998. 4 AA 000802-03, 000805. Roberts also impounded
pieces of lumber that were found on top of the body of Hamuilton. Id. at 000810,

Dr. Giles Sheldon Green, a coroner with the Clark County Medical Examiner
Department, testified that he performed an autopsy on the body found on Las Vegas
Boulevard South which was later identified as Hamilton. 2 AA 000416, 000420.
According to Dr. Green, Hamilton's body had three gunshot wounds: one m the back
that exited the chest, one in the left hip that exited the buttock, and one that entered
in the back of the leg and exited the nght thigh. Id. at 000423-24. Further, Dr. Green
testified that Hamilton's body had a laceration on the right wrist which could be
consistent with someone tearing a bracelet from the wrist. Id. at 000424, Dr. Green
testified that Hamilton was killed within twenty-four hours of his body being

9
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discovered the morning of November-16, 1998 and that the cause of death was three
gunshot wounds and the manner of death was homicide. Id. at 000427, 000435-36,
On November 17, 1998, Rick Ferguson, an employee at 1937 Western Ave.,
called the police to report broken glass with blood on it several buildings down from
his work. Id. at 000437-38. Officer Robert Kroll and Officer Robert Nogues,
LVMPD, responded to the call regarding broken glass at 1929 Western. 4 AA
000820, 000844. Upon arriving, Officer Kroll saw broken plate glass near the
entrance of the property with apparent blood on it. Id. at 00082 1. Officer Kroll also
observed biood inside the business on the carpet, a dark blue jacket and a baseball
cap. Id. Expended bullets were also found on the floor inside the business. Id. at
000822.
While the officers were investigating the scene, Officer Kroll testified that
Seka drove up to the business it a brown Toyota truck. 1d. at 000823-24. When
Officer Kroll asked Seka 1f he knew where Limanni, the owner of the business was,
Seka told hum that he had not seen Limanm since November 5 and that Limanni was
in Reno/Lake Tahoe with his girlfriend. Id. at 000825, Officer Kroll testified that
Seka gave his consent for them to search 1933 Western Ave. 1d. at 000827, Inside
1933 Western Ave, Officer Kroll observed a humidor under construction and a lot

- _%ﬁﬁé}mod laying around. Id. In addition, Officer Kroll testified that he saw a bullet

10
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standing up on the desk. 1d. at 000827-28. Additionally. Michael Cerda, the property
manager who was also at the scene, testified that he saw a bullet on top of a desk
inside 1933 Western. 2 AA 00365, 000375-76.

Officer Nogues testified that he investicated behind the businesses on
Western. 4 AA 000846. Officer Nogues observed a dumpster in an alcove 1 the rear
of the businesses. Id. When he opened the dumpster, Officer Nogues saw a few
papers at the bottom of the dumpster, but he could see the bottom of the dumpster.
Id. at 000846-47. The owner of the trophy business just down from 1929 and 1933
Western Ave. came out of his store and told Ofticer Nogues that the dumpster had
been emptied that morning or the prior night so nothing would be in it. Id, at 000847.

After noting the broken glass, blood and bullets at 1929 Western, Officers
Kroll and Nogues notified their supervisor and then called out a crime scene analyst
to document the scene at 1929 Western. Id. at 000822, 000848. David Ruffino, a
crime scene analyst with LVMPD, was assigned to process the scene at 1929
Western Ave. on November 17, 1998. 3 AA 000541, 000545. According to CSA
Ruftino, when he arrived at 11:31 a. m., there were only two uniform patrol officers
on scene and he was told that he was investigating the scene for malicious
destruction of private property. Id. at 000546. As Ruffino observed the scene at 1929

Western, he saw glass with blood all over it, blood inside the business and bullets on
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the floor. Id. at 000546-47. Ruffinoe also found a dark jacket with apparent blood and
bullet holes on it. Id. at 000547, After finding this evidence, Ruffino contacted the
homicide unit because he thought that 1929 Western may be related to a homicide,
Id. at 000547-48. After Ruffino arrived and began processing inside 1929 Western,
Ofticers Kroll and Officer Nogues left the area in separate patrol vehicles at 12:08
and 12:09 p.m. 3 AA 000581; 4 AA 000829, 000849, 000862. As the officers were
teaving, Ruffino’s supervisor Alan Cabrales armived to assist Ruffino at 12:09 p.m.
3 AA 000581, CSA’s Ruffino and Cabrales then went into 1929 Western to process
the crime scene and were otherwise left alone inside of that business for
approximately thirty minutes until LVMPD Homicide Detectives arrived. 3 AA
000523, 000534-35, 000585-86.

Homicide Detective James Buczek responded to the investigation at 1929
Western Ave and arrived somewhere between {2:33 p.m. and 1:00 pm. 3 AA
000523, 000534-36. His supervisor Homicide Sargent Ken Hefner arrived on scene
at 12:47 p.m. Id. at 000535, Detective Buczek testified that there were three bullets
and three fragments of bullets inside the business located at 1929 Western. [d. at
000523. In addition, a dark blue jacket with bullet holes was found. Id. The bullet
holes in the jacket were later compared with the bullet holes in Hamilton's body and

found to be consistent. Id
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After being gone for about one hour and fifteen minutes, Officer Nogues and
Officer Kroll were called back to the scenc to speak with homicide detectives. 4 AA
000829-30, 000850. When he returned to the scene, Officer Kroll went into 1933
Western Ave, and testitied that the cartridge was missing from the table where he
had seen it. 1d. at 000830. Officer Kroll questioned the landlord/manager of the
building. Michael Cerda and he denied moving the cartridge. Id. at 00083 1. Officer
Nogues testified that upon returning to the scene, he went with homicide detectives
to check the dumpster behind the businesses again. Id. at 000850-51. When he
looked in the dumpster, Officer Nogues saw papers, burnt clothmg and shoes which
filled the bottom of the dumpster. Id. at 000851-52. Officer Nogues testified that
none of those things had been in the dumpster previously when he had looked inside
of 1t at approximately [ 1:30 a.m. Id. at 000853, 000867.

Randy McPhail, a crime scene analyst with LYMPD, also responded to the
crime scene at 1933 Western on November 17, 1998, 1d. at 000907. McPhatl found
several .357 cartridge cases that had been fired inside 1933. 1d. at 000912-13. One
was hidden in the false ceiling of the office in the northeast section of the business,
another was sitting on a light fixture in front of the doors leading to the humidor and
the third was on the ground in the northwest office by the south wall. Id. McPhail

also noted a bullet hole was in a couch in the business and that a .32 bullet that
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traveled through the couch lodged in the drywall behind it. Id. at 000913; 3 AA
000526. An unfired .32 caliber cartridge was also found lying at the bottom of a
toilet bowl! in the lone bathroom. 4 AA 000913,

McPhail also testified that in the dumpster there were various items that were
partially burned including a green shirt that had the name “Limanni” on it as well as
a blue shirt that was also partially burned. Id. at 000914, 000926. Inside the dumpster
were numerous items to include photographs of Peter Lunanm, personal papers with
Limanni’s name on them, phone cards and a New Jersey state boat operator’s license
also 10 the name of Peter Limanni. Id. at 000913, 000925, 000930. In addition, on
the ground near the dumpster at the back of the business there were various player
cards from casinos, phone cards and other papers, most of which bore the name of
Peter Limanni. Id. at 000914-17. A wallet containing Limanni's driver's license,
social security card, birth certificate and a couple credit cards was also found hidden
1n the false ceiling of Cinergt. 1d. at 600914; 3 AA 0005206-27. There were numerous
blood stains or blood transfers in the business. 4 AA 0009]5-]6. McPhail also
recovered some beer bottles located in the trash can of the office at 1933 Western
Ave and successfully processed those beer bottles for fingerprints. 1d. at 000938-39.
In the south central office of business, McPhail documented that the box of
mementos that belonged to Limanni was still present. 2 AA 000472; 4 AA 000928,
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Gary Reed, crime scene analyst with LVMPD, did a vehicle examination on
the brown Toyota truck driven by Seka. 3 AA 000670-71. CSA Reed testified that
the exterior of the truck appeared to be clean, but the tires and undercarriage
appeared as though the truck had been driven in dirt and rocks. Id. at 000673, Rick
Ferguson testitied that he remembered noticing that although the brown Toyota truck
appeared very clean when Seka was driving it on November 17, the truck normally
appeared quite dirty. 2 AA 000440-41. In addition, there were stains in the bed liner
which caught Reed's attention. 3 AA 000673-74. These stains were tested with
phenylthaline and reflected the presence of blood. Id. at 000674-75. In addition,
Reed conducted a luminol test which glows in the dark when it reacts positively with
blood and the substance tested positive. Id. at 000675, 000677.

Tom Thowsen, homicide detective with LVMPD, conducted an interview of
Seka on November 17, 1998 after responding to the scene at 1933 Western. 5 AA
001069-71. Thowsen testified that Seka had a cellphone on his person and the phone
number was the same number found on the piece of paper found in Eric Hamilton’s
pants pocket when his body was recovered the day before. 1d. at 001074, Detective
Thowsen mirandized Seka an_d then took a taped interview of Seka. Id. at 001072-
73. During the interview, Seka told Detective Thowsen that Limanni was his friend

and that the two of them had been living at Cinergi but Limanni had just disappeared

15

FAPPELLATEWEFBOCSSECRETARY BIREE IS ANSWVER & PASTRACK 2020

OPENINGSERA SCHIN JOSEPIL S0923 517s OPENING BRIEF. DOe X

APP2539



several weeks before. Id. at 001073, Seka told Thowsen that since Limanni had left,
he had been staying at Cinergi and was attempting to run the business without
Limanni. }d. When Thowsen asked Seka about Hamilton and his association with
Cinergi, Seka claimed to know a person he called “Seymour” that seemed to match
Hamilton’s description. 1d. at 001075; 11 AA 00261 1-14. Seka said that “Seymour™
had done some work at Cinergi back in October but he had not seen the man since
around October 10 or two weeks before Seka had traveled back to New Jersey. Id.
He also admutted to talking with the black male on his cell phone but had not spoken
to him since he left on his trip. Id.

Following the interview, Detective Thowsen told Seka that the information he
had given them was inconsistent and that he was a suspect for the murder of
Hamilton. 5 AA 001077-78. At that point Seka smiled and said, "You're really
starting to scare me now. | think you'd better arrest me or take me home. Do you
have enough to arrest me right now?" Id. at 001078, Detective Thowsen told Seka
that he would watt until all of the forensic evidence had come back before arresting
Seka. Id. Prior to releasing Seka, Detective Thowsen photographed injuries on
Seka's hand and took a DNA sample. 1d. at 001078-79.

After Detective Thowsen drove him to 1933 Western Ave., Seka asked to

leave the scene to go to a dinner appointment. Id. at 001079. Seka was told the brown

16

EAPPELLATEEW DO SECRETARYBRIEFSIANSWER & FASTRACK 2100

OPENINGRSERA. JGHN JOSEPTL 3023, 51" QPENING BRIEF. BOCN

APP2540



Toyota was being tmpounded. 1d. At that point Seka requested that he be altowed to
take the white Dodge van with the Cinergi decals. Id. at 001079-80. Detective
Thowsen handed Seka the keys to the all-white Dodge van and Seka commented that
he wanted to take the van with the decals on it. Id. at 001080-81. Detective Thowsen
looked inside the van with the Cinergi decals and saw blood droplets and blood
stains. 1d. at 001081, A presumptive test was conducted which came back positive
tor blood. Id. at 001081-82. Seka ended up taking the plain white van and told
Detective Thowsen that he would return after his dinner appointment to lock up the
business once the police were done. Id. at 001082, Lunanui’s dog “Jake” was still
inside Cinergi when Seka left and Seka was not seen again by law enforcement until
April or May 1999 when he was arrested in Pcnnsylvan'ia, id. at 001082-83,001126.

Police began an investigation into 1933 Western and learned that earlier in
1998, Peter Limanni and Takeo Kato entered into a business arrangement to start an
air conditioning business in Las Vegas. 3 AA 000725, The business, named Cinergi,
opened up on May 6, 1998 and was located at 1933 Western. 2 AA 000365-66. Seka
was also an employee at Cinergi and worked for Limanni. Id. at 000367; 2 AA
000439-40. Both Seka and Limanni lived in the same back bedroom of the business
at 1933 Western. 2 AA 000451, 000453, Cinergi utilized four different vehicles,

three of them were vans and one was a brown Toyota truck. 3 AA 000736.
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Jennifer Harrison began dating Peter Limanni in August of 1998, 2 AA
000450. Between August and early November of 1998, Harrison saw Limanni and
Seka at Cinergi nearly every day. Id. at 000452. Limanni and Harrison both had cell
phones and they talked quite frequently and Limanni was normally easy to get a hold
of on his cell phone. Id. Lunanni also had a Jack Russell dog named “lake™ that he
was very close with. 1d. at 000459. Limanni would commonly take Jake with him
on job sites and when he ran errands. Id.

Harrison also had frequent interactions with both Limanni and Seka during
the late summer and fall of 1998. Id, at 000452-55. She witnessed that Limanni was
very controlling of his emiployee, Seka, and often times exhibited a bad temper with
him. Id. at 000455-58. Seka would take orders from Limanni but would never get to
tell Limannt what to do. Id. at 000455, 000457-58. Limanni would also control the
money and would be disrespectful to Seka often times referring to him as “his
nigger.” Id. at 000456. On one occaston Harrison witnessed Seka spill paint inside
Cinergt and Limanni called him a “dumb ass.” 1d. When Harrison asked Seka about
it, Seka told her Limanni had a bad temper and that the name calling was “just the
tip of the iceberg.” 1d. at 000455-56.

On the evening of November 4, 1998, Harrison saw Limanni for the last time
when he came over o her residence for a date. 1d. at 000460; 3 AA 000501-02. The

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