IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JOHN SEKA,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Nov 01 2023 03:24 PM Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No. 86694

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Denial of Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction) Without Evidentiary Hearing Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

JONATHAN M. KIRSHBAUM Nevada Bar #012908C Assistant Federal Public Defender 411 E. Bonneville Ave., Ste. 250 Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (702) 388-6577

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

Nor does the latent fingerprint report prove, as Appellant states, that the fingerprints on the bag belonged to a separate thief who had access to 1933 Western. See AOB at 44. Appellant's own trial counsel made a point to ask if fingerprint analysis reveals anything about the time when an object was previously handled, or who last moved it. 6 AA 1179. Boyd testified that it does not. Id. The fingerprints on the purse did not necessarily belong to the person who most recently handled it. They did not necessarily belong to the person who placed the purse in 1933 Western. The report does not support the existence of Appellant's hypothetical purse thief.

Because the latent fingerprint report does not undermine the State's theory of the case as Appellant suggests, the report is neither material nor favorable. The district court was correct in finding that Appellant failed to establish a <u>Brady</u> violation.

///

B. Appellant's Second Petition is Procedurally Barred

The district court arrived at a correct decision regarding Appellant's Second Petition on the merits. However, the State maintains that Appellant's Second Petition is procedurally barred. The district court found that Appellant demonstrated good cause, but that Appellant failed to establish the prejudice necessary to overcome the procedural bars. 15 AA 3048-3056.

1. Application of the procedural bars is mandatory.

The Nevada Supreme Court has granted no discretion to the district courts regarding whether to apply the statutory procedural bars. Instead, the Nevada Supreme Court has emphatically and repeatedly stated that the procedural bars *must* be applied.

The district courts have *a duty* to consider whether post-conviction claims are procedurally barred. State v. Eighth Judicial District Court (Riker), 121 Nev. 225, 234, 112 P.3d 1070, 1076 (2005). Riker held that the procedural bars "cannot be ignored when properly raised by the State." Id. at 233, 112 P.3d at 1075. Accord, State v. Huebler, 128 Nev. 192, 197, 275 P.3d 91, 94-95, footnote 2 (2012), cert. denied, 571 U.S. ____, 133 S.Ct. 988 (2013) ("under the current statutory scheme the time bar in NRS 34.726 is *mandatory*, *not discretionary*" (emphasis added)).

Even "a stipulation by the parties cannot empower a court to disregard the mandatory procedural default rules." <u>State v. Haberstroh</u>, 119 Nev. 173, 180, 69 P.3d

676, 681 (2003); accord, Sullivan v. State, 120 Nev. 537, 540, footnote 6, 96 P.3d 761, 763-64, footnote 6 (2004) (concluding that a petition was improperly treated as timely and that a stipulation to the petition's timeliness was invalid). The Sullivan Court "expressly conclude[d] that the district court should have denied [a] petition" because it was procedurally barred. Sullivan, 120 Nev. at 542, 96 P.3d at 765.

The district courts have no discretion in applying procedural bars because to allow otherwise would undermine the finality of convictions. In holding that "[a]pplication of the statutory procedural default rules to post-conviction habeas petitions is mandatory," the <u>Riker Court noted</u>:

Habeas corpus petitions that are filed many years after conviction are an unreasonable burden on the criminal justice system. The necessity for a workable system dictates that there must exist a time when a criminal conviction is final.

Riker, 121 Nev. at 231, 112 P.3d at 1074.

Moreover, strict adherence to the procedural bars promotes the best interests of the parties:

At some point, we must give finality to criminal cases. Should we allow [petitioner's] post-conviction relief proceeding to go forward, we would encourage defendants to file groundless petitions for federal habeas corpus relief, secure in the knowledge that a petition for post-conviction relief remained indefinitely available to them. This situation would prejudice both the accused and the State since the interests of both the petitioner and the government are best served if post-conviction claims are raised while the evidence is still fresh.

Colley v. State, 105 Nev. 235, 236, 773 P.2d 1229, 1230 (1989) (citations omitted).

2. The Second Petition is time-barred.

The Second Petition is time-barred pursuant to NRS 34.726(1):

Unless there is good cause shown for delay, a petition that challenges the validity of a judgment or sentence must be filed within 1 year of the entry of the judgment of conviction or, if an appeal has been taken from the judgment, within 1 year after the Supreme Court issues its remittitur. For the purposes of this subsection, good cause for delay exists if the petitioner demonstrates to the satisfaction of the court:

- (a) That the delay is not the fault of the petitioner; and
- (b) That dismissal of the petition as untimely will unduly prejudice the petitioner.

The Nevada Supreme Court has held that NRS 34.726 should be construed by its plain meaning. Pellegrini v. State, 117 Nev. 860, 873–74, 34 P.3d 519, 528 (2001). As per the language of the statute, the one-year time bar proscribed by NRS 34.726 begins to run from the date the judgment of conviction is filed or a remittitur from a timely direct appeal is filed. Dickerson v. State, 114 Nev. 1084, 1087, 967 P.2d 1132, 1133–34 (1998).

The one-year time limit for preparing petitions for post-conviction relief under NRS 34.726 is strictly applied. In <u>Gonzales v. State</u>, 118 Nev. 590, 596, 53 P.3d 901, 904 (2002), the Nevada Supreme Court rejected a habeas petition that was filed two (2) days late despite evidence presented by the defendant that he purchased postage through the prison and mailed the petition within the one-year time limit.

This is not a case wherein the Judgment of Conviction was, for example, not final. See, e.g., Johnson v. State, 133 Nev. 571, 402 P.3d 1266 (2017) (holding that the defendant's judgment of conviction was not final until the district court entered a new judgment of conviction on counts that the district court had vacated);

Whitehead v. State, 128 Nev. 259, 285 P.3d 1053 (2012) (holding that a judgment of conviction that imposes restitution in an unspecified amount is not final and therefore does not trigger the one-year period for filing a habeas petition). Nor is there any other legal basis for running the one-year time-limit from the filing of the Amended Judgment of Conviction. Thus, Appellant had one year from the filing of his original Judgment of Conviction to file a timely petition. Absent a showing of good cause to excuse this delay, Appellant's Petition must be dismissed.

Appellant failed to file this Second Petition prior to the one-year deadline. Remittitur issued from Appellant's direct appeal on May 9, 2003. 1 RA 16. Therefore, Appellant had until May 9, 2004, to file a timely habeas petition. Appellant filed this Second Petition on November 1, 2022. 14 AA 2768. This is over nineteen (19) years and five (5) months after Appellant's one-year deadline. Absent a showing of good cause and prejudice to excuse this delay, Appellant's Second Petition is time-barred.

3. The Second Petition is barred as successive.

NRS 34.810(2) reads:

A second or successive petition *must be dismissed* if the judge or justice determines that it fails to allege new or different grounds for relief and that the prior determination was on the merits or, if new and different grounds are alleged, the judge or justice finds that the failure of the petitioner to assert those grounds in a prior petition constituted an abuse of the writ.

(emphasis added).

Second or successive petitions are petitions that either fail to allege new or different grounds for relief and the grounds have already been decided on the merits, or that allege new or different grounds but a judge or justice finds that the petitioner's failure to assert those grounds in a prior petition would constitute an abuse of the writ. Second or successive petitions will only be decided on the merits if the petitioner can show good cause *and* prejudice. NRS 34.810(3); <u>Lozada v. State</u>, 110 Nev. 349, 358, 871 P.2d 944, 950 (1994); <u>see also Hart v. State</u>, 116 Nev. 558, 563–64, 1 P.3d 969, 972 (2000) (holding that "where a defendant previously has sought relief from the judgment, the defendant's failure to identify all grounds for relief in the first instance should weigh against consideration of the successive motion.")

The Nevada Supreme Court has stated: "Without such limitations on the availability of post-conviction remedies, prisoners could petition for relief in perpetuity and thus abuse post-conviction remedies. In addition, meritless, successive and untimely petitions clog the court system and undermine the finality of convictions." Lozada, 110 Nev. at 358, 871 P.2d at 950. The Nevada Supreme Court recognizes that "[u]nlike initial petitions which certainly require a careful review of the record, successive petitions may be dismissed based solely on the face of the petition." Ford v. Warden, 111 Nev. 872, 882, 901 P.2d 123, 129 (1995). In other words, if the claim or allegation was previously available with reasonable diligence, it is an abuse of the writ to wait to assert it in a later petition. McClesky

v. Zant, 499 U.S. 467, 497–98 (1991). Application of NRS 34.810(2) is mandatory.
 See Riker, 121 Nev. at 231, 112 P.3d at 1074.

Here, Appellant has filed a prior petition for habeas relief. On February 13, 2004, Appellant filed his First Petition. 8 AA 1507. On November 5, 2004, the district court denied the First Petition. 8 AA 1568-1573. On January 31, 2005, the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order were filed. 8 AA 1568. On February 9, 2005, Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal. 1 RA 18. On June 8, 2005, the Nevada Supreme Court issued an Order affirming the district court's decision and Remittitur issued on July 15, 2005. 8 AA 1574; 1 RA 19. Thus, the Second Petition is successive and constitutes an abuse of the writ.

4. Appellant failed to establish good cause to overcome the procedural bars.

To avoid procedural default under NRS 34.726 and NRS 34.810, a defendant has the burden of pleading and proving specific facts that demonstrate good cause for his failure to present his claim in earlier proceedings or comply with the statutory requirements. See Hogan, 109 Nev. at 959-60, 860 P.2d at 715-16; Phelps, 104 Nev. at 659, 764 P.2d at 1305.

"To establish good cause, appellants *must* show that an impediment external to the defense prevented their compliance with the applicable procedural rule." <u>Clem v. State</u>, 119 Nev. 615, 621, 81 P.3d 521, 525 (2003) (emphasis added); <u>see Hathaway v. State</u>, 119 Nev. 248, 251, 71 P.3d 503, 506 (2003); <u>Pellegrini</u>, 117 Nev.

at 887, 34 P.3d at 537. Such an external impediment could be "that the factual or legal basis for a claim was not reasonably available to counsel, or that 'some interference by officials' made compliance impracticable." Hathaway, 119 Nev. at 251, 71 P.3d at 506 (quoting Murray v. Carrier, 477 U.S. 478, 488, 106 S. Ct. 2639, 2645 (1986)); see also Gonzalez, 118 Nev. at 595, 53 P.3d at 904 (citing Harris v. Warden, 114 Nev. 956, 959-60 n.4, 964 P.2d 785 n.4 (1998)). Any delay in filing of the petition must not be the fault of the petitioner. NRS 34.726(1)(a).

The Nevada Supreme Court has clarified that a defendant cannot attempt to manufacture good cause. See Clem, 119 Nev. at 621, 81 P.3d at 526. To find good cause there must be a "substantial reason; one that affords a legal excuse." Hathaway, 119 Nev. at 251, 71 P.3d at 506; (quoting Colley v. State, 105 Nev. at 236, 773 P.2d at 1230). Excuses such as the lack of assistance of counsel when preparing a petition, as well as the failure of trial counsel to forward a copy of the file to a petitioner have been found not to constitute good cause. See Phelps, 104 Nev. at 660, 764 P.2d at 1306, superseded by statute on other grounds as recognized in Nika v. State, 120 Nev. 600, 607, 97 P.3d 1140, 1145 (2004); Hood v. State, 111 Nev. 335, 890 P.2d 797 (1995).

Further, a petitioner raising good cause to excuse procedural bars must do so within a reasonable time after the alleged good cause arises. See Pellegrini, 117 Nev. at 869–70, 34 P.3d at 525–26 (holding that the time bar in NRS 34.726 applies to

successive petitions); see generally Hathaway, 119 Nev. at 252–53, 71 P.3d at 506–07 (stating that a claim reasonably available to the petitioner during the statutory time period did not constitute good cause to excuse a delay in filing). A claim that is itself procedurally barred cannot constitute good cause. Riker, 121 Nev. at 235, 112 P.3d at 1077; see also Edwards v. Carpenter, 529 U.S. 446, 453 120 S. Ct. 1587, 1592 (2000).

The very purpose of the procedural bars is to compel habeas petitioners to pursue their claims expeditiously. According to the United States Supreme Court, "the purpose of the fault component of 'failed' is to ensure the prisoner undertakes his own diligent search for evidence. Diligence ... depends upon whether the prisoner made a reasonable attempt, in light of the information available at the time, to investigate and pursue claims[.]" Williams v. Taylor, 529 U.S. 420, 434-435, 120 S.Ct. 1479, 1490 (2000). Indeed, the High Court has explicitly stated "that 'cause' under the cause and prejudice test must be something external to the petitioner, something that cannot be fairly attributed to him." Coleman v. Thompson, 501 U.S. 722, 753, 111 S.Ct. 2546, 2566 (1991). Similar to the procedural bars at issue in Williams and Coleman, Nevada also requires a habeas petitioner to demonstrate a lack of fault. NRS 34.726(1)(a) ("good cause for delay exists if the petitioner demonstrates ... [t]hat the delay was not the fault of the petitioner"); NRS 34.800(1)(a) ("A petition may be dismissed ... unless the petitioner shows that the

petition is based upon grounds of which the petitioner could not have had knowledge by the exercise of reasonable diligence").

Appellant was required to bring this claim within a reasonable time of it becoming available, which is one year. Rippo v. State, 134 Nev. 411, 412, 423 P.3d 1084, 1090 (2018) ("[A] petition...has been filed within a reasonable time after the...claim became available so long as it is filed within one year after entry of the district court's order disposing of the prior petition or, if a timely appeal was taken from the district court's order, within one year after this court issues its remittitur."); Pellegrini, 117 Nev. at 874-75, 34 P.3d at 529 ("The State concedes, and we agree, that for purposes of determining the timeliness of these successive petitions pursuant to NRS 34.726, assuming the laches bar does not apply, it is both reasonable and fair to allow petitioners one year from the effective date of the amendment to file any successive habeas petitions.").

Additionally, in order to demonstrate prejudice to overcome the procedural bars, a defendant must show "not merely that the errors of [the proceeding] created possibility of prejudice, but that they worked to his actual and substantial disadvantage, in affecting the state proceedings with error of constitutional dimensions." Hogan v Warden, 109 Nev. at 960, 860 P.2d at 716 (internal quotation omitted), Little v. Warden, 117 Nev. 845, 853, 34 P.3d 540, 545.

Appellant claims a violation under <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S.Ct. 1194 (1963) provides him good cause to overcome the procedural bars. AOB at 48-50. Appellant claims a latent fingerprint report, showing that a stolen purse recovered from 1933 Western Avenue had fingerprints that did not match his, was not disclosed to defense until 2017. AOB at 48.

To qualify as good cause, a petitioner must demonstrate that the State affirmatively withheld information favorable from the defense. <u>State v. Bennett</u>, 119 Nev. 589, 600, 81 P.3d 1, 8 (2003). The defense bears the burden of proving that the State withheld information and it must prove specific facts that show as much. <u>Id.</u>

Here, Appellant cannot use this <u>Brady</u> claim as good cause and prejudice because his <u>Brady</u> claim is meritless. <u>See</u> Section I.(A)(2), *supra*. As shown above, Appellant fails to establish that the State withheld favorable information from him. <u>See</u> Section I.(A)(1), *supra*. Furthermore, Appellant cannot use his <u>Brady</u> claim to prove good cause and prejudice because it is untimely. The State does not concede that the fingerprint print report was withheld from Appellant until 2017. However, assuming that Appellant did not receive it from the State until 2017, Appellant had until 2018 to raise this <u>Brady</u> claim to the Court. Appellant's failure to do so precludes him from using this claim as good cause and prejudice to file a procedurally barred habeas petition.

5. Appellant failed to establish prejudice to overcome the procedural bars.

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